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It is a great pleasure to provide 
this foreword to the first 
annual report of the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria.
It was a significant step when the Commission 
was established and began operations on 1 July 
2017. For the first time in Victoria, there is now a 
permanent body separate from the courts and the 
Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) 
charged with responsibility for receiving and 
investigating complaints against judicial officers 
and VCAT members. 

The framework within which the Commission 
operates recognises the importance of judicial 
independence. Against that backdrop, the 
creation of the Commission is a balancing 
safeguard to ensure that the high standards 
of integrity and behaviour expected of judicial 
officers by the community and the judiciary are 
maintained. 

First, I acknowledge the leadership of the 
Commission by the inaugural Chair and Chief 
Justice, the Honourable Marilyn Warren AC. Her 
stewardship during the lead up to, establishment 
and first few months of operation of the 
Commission was invaluable.

I also acknowledge the outstanding contribution 
of Mr Ross Herron, one of four initial members of 
the Board of the Commission appointed on the 
recommendation of the Attorney-General. Both 
I and the other Board members were saddened 
by his death in November 2017. On behalf of the 
Commission, I take this opportunity to again 
express our deepest sympathy to his family. 

In May this year, Justice Greg Garde AO 
RFD, retired as a member of the Board of the 
Commission when his term as President of VCAT 
concluded. I acknowledge his very significant 
and valuable contribution to the Commission 
during his time as a member of the Board.

I also formally welcome to the Board the new 
President of VCAT, the Honourable Justice 
Michelle Quigley, who was sworn in on 1 June. 
I look forward to what will no doubt be her 
insightful contribution in the Board’s deliberations. 

As the Director’s message will report, the 
Commission has achieved much in its first 12 
months of operation. It has embarked on a 
public awareness campaign; it has established 
procedures for receiving and dealing with 
complaints and it has handled a large number of 
complaints of varying types about the conduct or 
capacity of judicial officers and VCAT members. 
The statistics demonstrate that the vast majority 
of complaints are summarily dismissed. However, 
where there is a complaint that is not summarily 
dismissed, the Commission provides a consistent 
and robust process to enable full investigation. In 
doing so, the Commission provides members of 
the community with an accessible, consistent and 
transparent avenue to make complaints.

In closing, I wish to acknowledge and thank 
the other members of the Board, the Director 
and staff of the Commission. The Commission’s 
successful first year has only been possible 
because of its staff members’ thoughtful hard 
work and dedication in these challenging early 
phases of development.

I am pleased to present this report of the 
Commission’s achievements in 2017–18.

Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, Chair

Message 
from Chair

In accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria’s Annual Report for the 
year ending 30 June, 2018. 

Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, Chair

Melbourne
12 November 2018

Responsible 
Body’s Declaration

ii 1Judicial Commission of Victoria Annual Report 2017–2018



Key achievements during this period have 
included the procurement, development 
and implementation of a customised Case 
Management System. I would like to acknowledge 
and thank the Commission’s Principal Lawyer and 
Operations Manager for delivering a state of the 
art system which automates the Commission’s 
legislative requirements, provides advanced 
reporting capability and creates a highly-efficient 
complaint handling process. Dealing with 264 
complaints and delivering major IT projects 
such as these, I believe is an impressive feat 
for a small, fledgling organisation such as 
the Commission. I would like to pay tribute to 
the Commission’s staff members who have 
demonstrated tremendous commitment to ensure 
the office was ready to receive complaints from 
day one, and then worked tirelessly to implement 
and refine the complaint system, while dealing 
with a full load of active complaints. A high bar 
has been set for both quality and efficiency 
of the process for investigating complaints.

The task of assessing conduct and determining 
whether the standards expected of judicial 
officers and VCAT members have been 
infringed often involves difficult questions of 
judgement. The Commission has put a number 
of measures in place to ensure high standards 
are maintained in its decision making process. 

The Commission has established a Committee 
for each jurisdiction comprising one judicial 
and two non-judicial Board members. While the 
Director can dismiss a complaint, a decision to 
refer a matter to a Head of Jurisdiction must be 
made by the relevant Jurisdiction Committee.

Generally there are three steps to be taken 
before a matter is referred to a Head of 
Jurisdiction and recommendations made 
about the future conduct of an officer:

1. Preliminary consideration by the Director;

2. Advice provided by a consultant; and

3. Consideration by the Jurisdiction Committee.

I am confident this process provides appropriate 
decision making rigour for determining 
whether standards have been infringed.

The Commission has engaged the following 
retired judicial officers and VCAT member 
to provide advice on complaints: the 
Honourable David Harper AM, the Honourable 
Ian Gray, the Honourable Margaret Rizkalla 
and Noreen Megay. It is proving to be very 
valuable for the Commission to be able to 
draw on the extensive experience these 
consultants have in particular jurisdictions.

In the year ahead the Commission will take 
further steps to increase awareness about 
its role and the nature of its work. This will 
involve making presentations to judicial 
officers and to legal practitioners including 
suburban and regional practitioner groups.

I would like to acknowledge Court Services 
Victoria (CSV) for its administrative support in 
establishing and operating the Commission. 
CSV provides financial and IT systems to the 
Commission as well as human resources 
support. This has been of vital importance to 
the Commission which is a small organisation 
of seven staff and lacks the capacity to 
provide those functions independently.

Finally, I would like to thank our Board 
members for their leadership and support 
throughout the challenging establishment 
period of the Commission. In particular, I 
would like to thank the former Chief Justice 
and inaugural Chair of the Commission 
the Honourable Marilyn Warren AC for her 
support and guidance which were invaluable 
during the early days of the Commission. 

Richard Besley, Director

The Judicial Commission of 
Victoria was established by 
the Judicial Commission of 
Victoria Act 2016 and began 
operating on 1 July 2017. 
The Commission’s governing 
Act has created a consistent 
and transparent process for 
receiving and investigating 
complaints about judicial 
officers and VCAT members. 
Now one year on, I am pleased 
to report the Commission 
has had a successful 
establishment period.

Message from 
Director 

Four non-judicial members of the Board, Claire 
Keating, Helen Silver AO, Graham Atkinson and Ross 
Herron were appointed by the Governor in Council 
on 14 February 2017. The first Board meeting for the 
Commission was held on 9 March 2017 followed 
by an induction process for the non-judicial Board 
members involving visits to a number of jurisdictions. 

The Commission undertook a range of activities to 
promote its commencement and to raise awareness 
of its functions. Presentations were made to and 
meetings held with court user organisations and 
other stakeholders. Articles on the Commission 
appeared in a number of legal publications and 
information materials were widely distributed.

The Commission’s website went live on 1 June 
2017, in advance of commencement, and an 
online complaint form for the submission of 
complaints was launched on 1 July 2017 with 
complaints received immediately. To date most 
complaints have been received through the 
online complaint form, however complaints also 
have been received by email, mail and phone.

Any member of the public or the legal profession 
can make a complaint. The Attorney-General, Head 
of Jurisdiction and the Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) can refer matters 
to the Commission. Most complaints received so 
far have been made by members of the public.

Since the Commission’s establishment it has 
been a busy and dynamic time for the office. Prior 
to launching there was considerable uncertainty 
about the volume and nature of complaints the 
Commission would receive. 264 complaints and 
referrals were received, 182 were dismissed, 2 were 
referred to a Head of Jurisdiction, 2 were referred 
to an Investigating panel, 6 were withdrawn, and 72 
remained open at 30 June 2018. The Commission 
confronted a high volume of complaints from the 
outset during a formation phase when processes 
for handling complaints were still being established. 
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SECTION 1

Governance and 
organisational 
structure

Snapshot of Judicial Commission 
of Victoria 
This annual report summarises the 
operations and financial activities and 
performance of the Judicial Commission 
of Victoria for 2017–18. It also includes all 
of the mandatory reporting requirements 
on the application of the relevant 
legislation that governs the organisation.

This is the Commission’s first annual 
report available on its public website  
www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au.

Who we are

The Judicial Commission of Victoria is 
an independent body established under 
the Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 
2016 to investigate complaints about 
judicial officers and Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) members.

The other Acts and Regulations which 
govern how the Commission operates 
include the Constitution Act 1975 and the 
Protected Disclosures Act 2012. 

Our history

19 April 2016
Bill assented to Parliament. 

1 July 2017
As a Victorian first, the Judicial Commission 
of Victoria was officially established with the 
Andrews Labor Government announcing the 
opening of the office premises and the start of 
the first working day. 

The Attorney-General of Victoria the 
Honourable Martin Pakula MP said in 
the public statement: “The Government 
established the Judicial Commission to 
preserve the integrity and independence of 
our judiciary, and to provide Victorians with 
a fair and accessible process for raising 
complaints about the judiciary.”… “The new 
Commission gives Victorians an independent, 
modern and transparent system for handling 
complaints for the first time.”

8 December 2015 
The Andrews Labor Government announced 
that it would establish, under the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria Bill 2015 in the Victorian 
Parliament, a Judicial Commission of Victoria.

The public announcement stated that the 
Commission would be the new independent 
body that would have the authority to hear 
complaints about the conduct of judicial 
officers and VCAT members. Any member of 
the public, or the legal profession would be 
able to make a complaint to the Commission, 
which would also be able to receive and 
investigate referrals from the Attorney-General.

The Commission would have the powers to 
consider a range of complaints including 
excessive delays in giving judgments, 
courtroom demeanour and health issues 
affecting a judicial officer or VCAT member’s 
ability to perform their official duties.

The Bill would also create a process for 
judicial officers or VCAT members facing 
serious allegations to be stood down 
from some, or all of their duties while an 
investigation was underway.
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Organisational 
structure
The governing body of 
the Commission is the 
Board of the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria.

At the time of writing, 
there were six full-time 
and one part-time staff 
members working at the 
Commission’s offices in 
Melbourne’s CBD.

What we do

The Commission 
investigates complaints 
about the conduct or 
capacity of judicial officers 
and VCAT members, but 
not complaints about the 
correctness of a decision 
made by a judicial officer or 
VCAT member. 

Our vision and mission
The Commission seeks to provide a fair and 
transparent complaint process and aims to 
ensure public confidence and trust in Victorian 
courts and VCAT is maintained.

Our values
The Commission’s values align with both the values 
of the Victorian Public Sector Commission (VPSC) 
and Court Services Victoria (CSV).

• VPSC’s values under the Public Administration 
Act 2004 are: responsiveness, integrity, 
impartiality, accountability, respect, leadership 
and human rights. 

• CSV’s values are: service, excellence, courage, 
honesty and respect.

Our governance
The governing body of the Commission is the 
Board of the Judicial Commission of Victoria. 
The Board consists of six judicial Board 
members (Heads of Jurisdiction) and four 
community Board members appointed by the 
Governor in Council. The Commission is led by 
the Director who reports to the Board.

Director

Principal 
Lawyer

Senior 
Lawyer

Senior 
Lawyer

Complaints  
Officer

Operations  
Manager

Our Director
Richard Besley was appointed Acting Director 
in August 2016 and Director in July 2017. The 
Director is responsible for the administration 
of the Commission. The functions of this role 
include providing administrative assistance to 
any Investigating Panels appointed. The Director 
is also responsible to the Board in relation to the 
operation of the Commission.

Our powers, functions and 
duties
The Acts and Regulations which govern how 
the Commission operates include: the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria Act 2016; the Constitution 
Act 1975 and the Protected Disclosures Act 2012.

Our relationship with the 
Victorian Parliament and 
other sector agencies
The Commission was established under the 
Constitution Act 1975. The Victorian Parliament 
has the power to remove any judicial officers 
from office and the responsible Minister/Member 
of Parliament for the Commission–the Attorney-
General of Victoria–has the power to remove 
the non-judicial VCAT members from office. The 
Governor in Council in Victoria makes the orders 
for the removal of officers.
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Governance
The governing body of the Commission is the Board of the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria. The Board consists of six 
judicial Board members and four Board members appointed 
by the Governor in Council. This year one community Board 
member passed away leaving a vacancy on the Board. 

The Honourable Justice Anne Ferguson (Chair)

Chief Justice, Supreme Court of Victoria

Term commenced 2 October 2017

Chief Justice Ferguson was appointed to the 
Supreme Court as a trial judge in 2010, to the 
Court of Appeal in 2014 and as the 12th Chief 
Justice in 2017. Before her appointment to 
the Supreme Court, the Chief Justice was a 
partner at Allens Arthur Robinson (now Allens 
Linklaters) specialising in insolvency and 
commercial litigation.

The Honourable Justice Peter Kidd

Chief Judge, County Court of Victoria

Judge Kidd began his position with the County 
Court on 28 September 2015. He has lengthy 
experience in criminal trials and appeals and 
previously acted as an International Prosecutor 
at the War Crimes Chamber of the State Court 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Judge Kidd was 
appointed Senior Counsel in 2011 and is a 
member of the Sentencing Advisory Council 
Board. 

His Honour Judge Peter Lauritsen

Chief Magistrate, Magistrates’ Court of Victoria

Magistrate Lauritsen is an Adjunct Professor 
in the College of Law and Justice at Victoria 
University. Some of his other experience includes 
solicitor and partner at Cain and Lamers, 
Magistrate of the Northern Territory, Magistrate in 
charge of the Crimes Compensation Tribunal and 
Supervising Magistrate, Accident and Workers’ 
Compensation section.

The Honourable Judge Amanda Chambers

President, Children’s Court of Victoria

Judge Chambers has over 25 years of legal 
experience and commenced in this role on 9 June 
2015. She began law as a solicitor with Slater 
and Gordon in 1988, before working as a Senior 
Associate at Maurice Blackburn (1994–1997). 
Judge Chambers has been a Magistrate for 
nine years and a part-time Commissioner of the 
Victorian Law Reform Commission, where she 
served until 2012.

The Honourable Judge Sara Hinchey

State Coroner, Coroners Court of Victoria

Judge Hinchey has appeared before the Coroners 
Court in some of the state’s most high-profile 
inquests including the Kerang Rail Disaster, the 
Broughton Hall Nursing Home Deaths and the 
Burnley Tunnel Inquest. She also appeared as the 
Counsel Assisting the Coroner during the Inquest 
into the deaths of Chase and Tyler Robinson.

The Honourable Justice Michelle Quigley

President, Victorian Civil and Administrative 
Tribunal (VCAT)

Term commenced 1 June 2018

Justice Quigley was appointed to the Supreme 
Court in December 2017 and is the first woman to 
be appointed as the President of VCAT. Prior to 
her Supreme Court appointment, Justice Quigley 
spent almost 30 years as a barrister specialising 
in administrative law, including planning and 
environmental law, land valuation and acquisition.

Judicial Board members
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The Honourable Marilyn Warren AC 

Former Chief Justice, Supreme Court of Victoria

Served as Chair from 1 July 2017 until 1 October 
2017

Former Chief Justice Warren was appointed 
Chief Justice of Victoria in November 2003. 
She was the first woman to be appointed to 
this office in an Australian Supreme Court. She 
resigned on 1 October 2017.

The Honourable Justice Greg Garde AO RFD

Past President, Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT)

Served from 1 July 2017 until 31 May 2018

Justice Garde oversaw a number of key projects 
including the introduction of VCAT’s new fee 
regime which introduced measures designed to 
promote affordability, access to justice, and the 
early settlement of disputes. Prior to VCAT, he 
was a barrister for 38 years and practised in a 
broad range of commercial and civil law areas.

Mr Ross Herron

Served from 1 July 2017 until his death on  
13 November 2017

Mr Graham Atkinson

Member appointed 1 July 2017 (5 year term) 

Mr Atkinson is Director and Principal Consultant 
at Atkinson Consulting Group and has nearly 30 
years’ experience consulting with government and 
Indigenous communities on matters including land 
justice and heritage, economic and social planning, 
good governance and change management. 

Non-judicial Board members Previous Board members

Ms Claire Keating

Member appointed 1 July 2017 (5 year term) 

Ms Keating is a chartered accountant with over 
25 years’ experience in superannuation and funds 
management. She is a director of companies 
including NAB Wealth subsidiaries and is also 
Director of Yooralla, a not-for-profit organisation, 
and Victoria’s largest non-government provider of 
disability services. 

Ms Helen Silver AO 

Member appointed 1 July 2017 (5 year term) 

Ms Silver is the Chief General Manager, Corporate 
Governance and Conduct, at Allianz Australia. She 
also has had a long and distinguished career in 
the public sector including as Secretary of the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) from 
2008 until June 2013. 
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Committees

Audit and Risk Portfolio 
Committee membership 
and roles
The Audit and Risk Portfolio Committee (ARPC) 
is a Standing Committee of Court Services 
Victoria (CSV), and thereby a Sub-Committee of 
the Courts Council, that meets on a quarterly 
basis. The ARPC serves as the Risk and Audit 
Committee of the Commission.

The ARPC acts in an advisory capacity to foster 
the development of an internal annual audit 
program; assess the accuracy of the financial 
statements; and ensure the effectiveness and 
efficiency of financial systems and processes 
of the Commission are consistent with the 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 
1994, the Audit Act 1994, and other legislation 
and prescribed requirements.

The purpose of the ARPC is to assist the Board 
to fulfil its oversight responsibilities relating to: 

• the integrity and quality of the Commission’s 
financial reporting and disclosures

• the adequacy of the Commission’s Risk 
Management Framework and its use by 
management to identify and manage key risks

• the adequacy of the internal control framework 
to mitigate key business, financial, fraud and 
regulatory risks

• the independence, work plan (including 
annual audit of the Commission’s financial 
statements), and effectiveness of External 
Auditor

• the independence, qualifications, engagement, 
fees, scope of work and effectiveness of the 
Commission’s Internal Audit function

• compliance with relevant laws, regulations, 
standards and codes.

The ARPC consists of the 
following members: 
Mr Stewart Leslie, Chair 

Dr Philip Williams AM, non-judicial member

The Honourable Justice Peter Almond,  
judicial member

The Honourable Judge Paul Lacava,  
judicial member

Magistrate Phillip Goldberg, judicial member

Ms Elizabeth (Liz) Camilleri, independent member

Dr Margaret Salter, independent member

Establishing other 
Committees
The Board has established a number of 
Committees, each consisting of two or more 
Board members, and delegated functions under 
the Act to each Committee. The structure of the 
Committees facilitates efficient decision making 
and ensures that both a judicial and non-judicial 
Board member is involved in decisions of a 
Committee.

The Board delegated the power under s.13(4) of 
the Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016, to 
refer a matter to a Head of Jurisdiction and to a 
number of Committees. A separate Committee 
has been established to consider referrals 
relating to each jurisdiction. 

The Committees are:

• Judicial Commission Committee

• Supreme Court Committee

• County Court Committee

• Magistrates’ Court Committee

• Children’s Court Committee

• Coroners Court Committee

• VCAT Committee

Other Committee 
members

Judicial Commission 
Committee 
All Board members

Supreme Court Committee 
The Honourable Justice Peter Kidd

Ms Helen Silver AO

County Court Committee 
The Honourable Chief Justice Anne Ferguson 

Ms Claire Keating

Mr Graham Atkinson

Magistrates’ Court Committee 
The Honourable Judge Amanda Chambers

Ms Helen Silver AO

Children’s Court Committee 
His Honour Judge Peter Lauritsen

Ms Claire Keating

Mr Graham Atkinson

Coroners Court Committee 
The Honourable Justice Michelle Quigley

Ms Helen Silver AO

VCAT Committee 
The Honourable Judge Sara Hinchey

Ms Claire Keating

Mr Graham Atkinson
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Judicial Commission of 
Victoria Act 2016 
The Judicial Commission of 
Victoria Act 2016 (the Act) 
establishes a consistent and 
transparent process for the 
receipt and investigation of 
complaints about judicial 
officers1 and non-judicial VCAT 
members (Officers). Prior to 
the Act complaints were dealt 
with by the relevant Head of 
Jurisdiction.

1 A judicial officer is defined by s.87AAA of the Constitution 
Act 1975 to include a Judge, reserve Judge, Associate Judge 
and a reserve Associate Judge of the Supreme and County 
Courts, a Judge or reserve Judge of the County Court who 
is appointed or assigned to VCAT, a Magistrate, a reserve 
Magistrate, a Magistrate or reserve Magistrate who is 
appointed or assigned to the Children’s Court, the Coroners 
Court or VCAT, a reserve Coroner, a person appointed under 
s.94 of the Coroners Act 2008 and a judicial Registrar.

Functions of the 
Commission 

Complaints 
Investigation and process for complaints 

Complaints made to the Commission must 
relate to one of the following Victorian judicial 
officers or VCAT members:

• a judge of the Supreme Court or the County 
Court

• a magistrate of the Magistrates’ Court or 
Children’s Court

• a coroner of the Coroners Court

• a VCAT member

• a judicial registrar of the Supreme Court, the 
County Court, the Magistrates’ Court, the 
Children’s Court or the Coroners Court

The Commission can not investigate complaints 
about the correctness of a decision made by a 
judicial officer or VCAT member, other court or 
VCAT staff members, federal courts or tribunals 
such as the Family Court and the Administrative 
Appeals Tribunal (AAT).

SECTION 2

Judicial 
Commission of 
Victoria Act 2016 
and functions of 
the Commission
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What actions can the 
Commission take when a 
complaint is made? 
When the Commission receives a complaint it 
must either:

1. dismiss the complaint; 

2. refer the complaint to the relevant Head of 
Jurisdiction

3. refer the complaint to an Investigating Panel. 

Dismissal of a complaint 
The Act sets out a range of grounds upon which 
a complaint will be dismissed. For example, 
complaints which are trivial, vexatious, relate to 
a person who is no longer a judicial officer or a 
non-judicial member of VCAT, or relate solely to 
the correctness of a decision. If a complaint is 
dismissed the relevant Head of Jurisdiction, the 
judicial officer concerned and the complainant 
will be notified of the dismissal of the complaint.

Who can make a complaint? 
Any member of the public or the legal profession 
can make a complaint to the Commission. The 
Law Institute of Victoria and the Bar Association 
can refer complaints on behalf of their members 
without disclosing the identity of the complainant. 

What type of complaints can 
the Commission investigate? 
The Commission can investigate complaints about 
the conduct or capacity of Officers. For example:

• excessive delay in handing down a judgment

• inappropriate remarks made in the courtroom

• health issues which may affect the officer’s 
ability to perform their official functions.

The Commission can’t investigate certain 
matters including:

• the correctness of a decision made by a 
judicial officer or non-judicial VCAT member

• a person who is no longer a judicial officer or 
non-judicial VCAT member

• complaints which don’t relate to a judicial 
officer or a non-judicial VCAT member.

How to make a complaint? 
A complaint can be made to the Commission 
by completing the complaint form available on 
its website (www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au). 
When submitting an online complaint any relevant 
documents or information can also be attached.

Figure 1: Commission investigates complaints or referrals made by these people

Complaint or referral received by the Commission

COMPLAINT

REFERRAL

a. A PERSON

s.5

e. HEAD OF 
JURISDICTION  
OF A COURT

s.7(1)

b. LIV

s.6(1)

f. PRESIDENT  
OF VCAT

s.7(2)

c. VICTORIAN BAR

s.6(2)

g. ATTORNEY-
GENERAL

s.8

d. IBAC 

s.9(1)

Complaint and referrals
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Referral to a Head of 
Jurisdiction 
If the Commission has not dismissed a 
complaint or referred it to an Investigating Panel, 
the Commission must refer the matter to the 
relevant Head of Jurisdiction. 

The Officer concerned will be provided with a 
copy of the complaint and have the opportunity 
to respond. 

If a complaint is referred to the Head of 
Jurisdiction, the Officer concerned and the Head 
of Jurisdiction will be provided with a report which 
sets out the Commission’s findings following 
investigation of the complaint and also the 
Commission’s recommendations.

The Head of Jurisdiction must have regard to the 
Commission’s report and may do one or more of 
the following:

• counsel the Officer in respect of the complaint

• make recommendations to the Officer about 
future conduct

• exercise any other powers that the Head of 
Jurisdiction has.

After finalisation, the Head of Jurisdiction must 
provide a report to the Commission stating the 
outcome of the referral of the complaint and the 
reasons for that outcome. A copy of that report 
will also be provided to the complainant.

Referral to an Investigating 
Panel 
Prior to the Act, power resided with the Attorney-
General to refer a matter to an Investigating 
Committee to investigate whether facts exist that 
could warrant the removal of an Officer from office. 
The Act transfers this power to the Commission.

Under the Act, the Commission must refer 
a complaint to an Investigating Panel if the 
Commission is of the opinion that it could, if 
substantiated, amount to proved misbehaviour or 
incapacity such as to warrant removal from office. 

An Investigating Panel is appointed by the Board and 
comprises of an Officer or VCAT member, a former 
Officer or VCAT Member and a person who has been 
appointed to a pool on the recommendation of the 
Attorney-General. 

An Investigating Panel has a broad range of 
investigatory powers including the power 
to conduct a hearing, the power to require 
production of documents and the power to issue 
witness summonses. A hearing is closed to the 
public unless exceptional circumstances exist.

When can an Officer be stood 
down? 
The relevant Head of Jurisdiction may stand down 
an Officer from office at any time if they believe 
that the continued performance of functions by 
the Officer is likely to impair public confidence 
in the impartiality, independence, integrity or 
capacity of that person, or the relevant court 
or tribunal. The Commission or an Investigating 
Panel may make a recommendation that an 
Officer be stood down.

When can an Officer be 
required to undergo a medical 
examination? 
If the Board or an Investigating Panel reasonably 
believes an Officer may be suffering from an 
impairment, disability, illness or condition that 
may significantly affect the Officer’s performance 
of their functions, it may require an Officer to 
undergo any medical examination it considers 
necessary. The Officer concerned must be given a 
copy of the medical report. The Officer may then 
submit a medical report prepared by a registered 
medical practitioner which addresses the matters 
set out in the report provided to the Officer.

Powers of Heads of 
Jurisdictions 
The Act amends the relevant legislation to provide 
the Heads of Jurisdiction with the power to:

• ensure the effective, orderly and expeditious 
discharge of the business of the Court

• do all the things necessary or convenient to 
perform these responsibilities.

Complaint/referral received by Commission ss.5-9

Consideration of complaint by Commission s.13(1)

Mandatory dismissal grounds

A complaint must be dismissed, unless the 
Commission is satisfied:

a. it could, if substantiated, amount to proved 
misbehaviour or incapacity, such as to warrant 
removal from office

b. it warrants further consideration on the ground that:

i. it may affect or have affected the performance 
of the Officer’s functions

ii. the conduct of the Officer may have infringed 
the standards of conduct generally expected of 
judicial officers or VCAT members s.16(1)

A complaint must be dismissed if:

a. made by a vexatious complainant

b. not about a judicial officer or VCAT member

c. conduct occurred before person became a judicial 
officer or VCAT member and not conduct which 
would warrant removal from office

d. solely about merits or lawfulness of decision

e. relates to the Officer’s private life and doesn’t affect 
performance of the Officer’s functions or suitability 
to hold office

f. frivolous, vexatious or not made in good faith

g. Officer has resigned or retired and is no longer in 
office 

ss.16(2) & (3)

Discretionary dismissal 
grounds

A complaint may be dismissed 
if:

a. not substantiated

b. occurred at too remote a 
time

c. having regard to all 
the circumstances, 
investigation or 
further investigation is 
unnecessary or unjustified 
s.16(4)

Complaint dismissed s.13(2)

Complainant, Officer and Head of Jurisdiction notified

ss.20(1), 21(1) & 23(1)

Dismissal of a complaintReferrals 
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Complaint/referral received by Commission ss.5-9

Consideration of complaint by Commission s.13(1)

Officer must be given written notice about complaint and given opportunity to 
respond before complaint is referred ss.13(4)(a) & 14

If complaint has not been dismissed or referred to an Investigating Panel, 
Commission must refer it to the Officer’s Head of Jurisdiction s.13(4)

Commission must consult with Head of Jurisdiction before referring complaint s.15(1)

Commission must provide Head of Jurisdiction with a report which sets out – findings of fact, 
assessment of appropriateness of conduct and recommendation about future conduct s.19(3)

Officer must be given a copy of report provided to the Head of Jurisdiction s.21(4)

Complainant must be given written notice of referral to a Head of Jurisdiction 
Notice must include reasons for referral s.23(4) & (5)

On receiving report, Head of Jurisdiction may:

a. counsel the Officer
b. make recommendations about future conduct
c. exercise any other powers s.115(1)

Head of Jurisdiction/nominated person must:

a. have regard to the report (in making a decision 
under s.115)

b. provide a report to the Commission stating the 
outcome of the referral and the reasons for that 
outcome ss.116 & 117

If there is more than one nominated 
Head of Jurisdiction, the matter may 
be dealt with jointly or separately. 
If separate, then each Head of 
Jurisdiction must provide a report 
ss.118.

On receiving report, the Commission must give a copy to the complainant s.119

Referral to Head of Jurisdiction

Complaint/referral received by Commission ss.5-9

Referral to an Investigating Panel

Consideration of complaint by Commission s.13(1)

Referral to an Investigating Panel if the Commission is of the opinion that it could, if substantiated, 
amount to proved misbehaviour or incapacity such as to warrant removal from office s.13(3)(a)

Officer to be given the opportunity to respond before referring complaint s.13(3)(b)

Investigating Panel to be appointed comprising:

• a judicial officer or VCAT member,
• a former judicial officer or VCAT Member,
• a person who has been appointed to a pool on the recommendation of the Attorney-General 

s.87AAS Constitution Act 1975

Judicial officers

Investigating Panel may prepare a report 
for the Governor if it forms the opinion that 
facts exist that could warrant the removal of 
a Officer on the grounds of misbehaviour or 
incapacity s.34(4).

A copy of the report must be provided to the 
Attorney-General who must cause a copy to be 
laid before each House of the Parliament s.39.

The Officer concerned must also be given a 
copy of the report s.43(3).

The Governor in Council may remove the 
holder of a judicial office from that office 
on the presentation to the Governor of an 
address from both Houses of Parliament 
agreed to by a special majority in the same 
session s.87AAB Constitution Act 1975.

VCAT members

The Investigating Panel may prepare a report 
for the Attorney-General if it forms the opinion 
that facts exist that could warrant the removal 
of the member concerned on the grounds of 
misbehaviour or incapacity s.34(5).

A copy of the report must be provided to the 
Attorney-General who must cause a copy to be 
laid before each House of Parliament s.40.

The member concerned must also be given 
a copy of the report s.43(3).

The Attorney-General, after consulting 
with the head of VCAT, may recommend to 
the Governor in Council that the member 
concerned be removed from office s.120.

The Governor in Council may remove a 
member on the recommendation of the 
Attorney-General, but not otherwise s.121.

Complaint investigated by the Investigating 
Panel which has a broad range of powers 
including:

• power to conduct a hearing s.55
• power to require production of documents s.69
• power to issue a witness summons s.70

The Officer may provide written submissions 
responding to the complaint. If a hearing is 
held the Officer may have legal representation. 
A hearing is closed to the public unless 
exceptional circumstances exist s.62.
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SECTION 3

A year in review
Key operations 
highlights 2017–2018 

9 March 2017
The first Judicial 
Commission of Victoria 
Board meeting is held. 

1 June 2017
The Commission begins developing its 
website and IT infrastructure in collaboration 
with the Department of Justice and 
Regulation (DoJR) and an external designer 
(Atticus Design) in December 2016. 

The website goes LIVE Thursday 1 June 
2017. It provides information relating to 
the Commission’s purpose, governance 
and complaints management processes. 
Those who wish to make a complaint to the 
Commission can do so through an online 
portal on the website. 

Throughout the 
Commission’s 
establishment period
A series of information sessions about 
the Commission are delivered by the 
Director to stakeholders, including court 
user organisations, court staff and judicial 
officers.

Prior to officially declaring the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria Commission’s offices 
open, important communications avenues 
are established.

27 June 2017 Enquiries email:  
enquiries@judicialcommission.vic.gov.au

26 March 2017 Phone: 03 9604 2420 

26 March 2017 Fax: 03 9604 2422

14 June 2017 Twitter: @JudicialCommVic

phone

print

TWITTER

16 February 2018
The procurement and implementation of 
a Complaints Management System (CMS) 
commences at the Commission. This system 
is a vital element of the Commission’s 
everyday operations as it allows complainants 
to register and lodge their complaints online 
via its website.

Prior to setting up this system the 
Commission conducts rigorous market 
research and evaluation to find a platform 
and system integrator to best fit its needs.

The CMS goes LIVE Friday 16 February 2018 
(which involves the migration of hard copy 
filing systems to a fully online cloud-based 
application). The CMS streamlines complaint 
processes and increases efficiency and 
reporting capabilities. 

5 March 2018
The Commission appoints an Investigating Panel to investigate 
two matters, one referred by the Attorney-General in December 
2017, and one referred by Chief Magistrate in January 2018. 
The panel’s role is to investigate the matters referred to it 
by the Commission. Following its investigation, in relation to 
each referral, the Investigating Panel must: a) dismiss the 
referral, b) refer the referral to the Chief Magistrate, or c) if it 
forms an opinion that facts exist (which could warrant the 
removal of the Magistrate), prepare a report for the Governor.

The Investigating Panel comprises two senior retired judges 
and a non-legal person of high standing in the community 
selected from the pool of persons appointed by the Governor 
in Council.

1 July 2017
The establishment of the Commission’s 
IT infrastructure, in collaboration with 
Court Services Victoria (CSV), DoJR and 
CenITex begins in December 2016 through 
to its launch 1 July 2017. The Commission 
continues to work closely with these 
agencies for ongoing maintenance and IT 
support. 

The commencement of the Commission’s 
operations with complaints received 
immediately.
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CASE STUDY 1

The officer made  
pre-emptive statements  
and used an overbearing 
tone
The complaint related to a plea hearing.  
The accused had recently been subjected to 
family violence and the complainant alleged 
the judicial officer’s conduct was belittling 
and overbearing when evidence about family 
violence was raised in mitigation. 

Decision

The Commission determined the complaint 
should be referred to the Head of Jurisdiction 
because the conduct of the judicial officer 
during the plea hearing infringed the 
standards of conduct generally expected of 
judicial officers. Specifically, the Commission 
considered that the officer:

a. made strongly expressed pre-emptive 
statements about the evidence of the 
accused and the outcome of the hearing, 
and in so doing, failed to demonstrate 
appropriate impartiality

b. used an overbearing and aggressive 
tone when speaking to the accused and 
their lawyer and failed to maintain an 
appropriately neutral tone

c. interrupted the submissions of the 
accused’s legal representative to an 
extent that could be regarded as denying 
the legal representative an appropriate 
opportunity to present their case

d. failed to give reasons for the decision 
reached or express conclusions about 
the evidence of the accused

e. failed to meet community expectations in 
relation to the treatment of people who 
are subjected to family violence.

The judicial officer was counselled by the 
Head of Jurisdiction and expressed regret 
for his behaviour. The judicial officer has also 
undertaken training on family violence. 

CASE STUDY 2

Incorrect decision
The complainant alleged the judicial 
officer unfairly and incorrectly struck out 
their application for an intervention order 
because the complainant did not appear.

Decision

The Commission dismissed the complaint as 
it related solely to the merits or lawfulness 
of the decision made by the judicial officer. 
The Commission does not have jurisdiction 
to investigate complaints which relate solely 
to the merits or lawfulness of a decision or 
procedural ruling made by the judicial officer 
concerned. 

CASE STUDY 4

Bias against self-
represented litigants
The complainant alleged the judicial officer 
was biased against them because they 
were self-represented and the other party 
was represented by a solicitor. Specifically, 
all the orders made by the judicial officer 
favoured the other party. For example, 
when the complainant sought an order for 
an adjournment it was refused, whereas 
when the other party sought an order for 
an adjournment the order was granted.

Decision

The Commission investigated the allegations 
and found no evidence that the judicial 
officer was biased. The complaint was 
dismissed on the ground that the allegations 
in the complaint were not substantiated. CASE STUDY 3

Failure to give a fair 
hearing
The complainant alleged that the judicial 
officer would not hear evidence to prove or 
disprove what the complainant said. Further, 
the complainant alleged that certain points 
in documents they provided were not looked 
at or glossed over by the judicial officer.

Decision

The Commission listened to a recording 
of the proceeding and found that the 
complainant was given the opportunity 
to present any evidence they wished to. 
Further, the complainant discussed each 
matter they raised in detail. There was no 
evidence that the officer failed to consider 
or glossed over points in documents 
provided by the complainant. The complaint 
was dismissed on the ground that the 
allegations made in the complaint were not 
substantiated.  

CASE STUDY 5

Inappropriate comments
The complainant alleged the judicial officer 
made inappropriate comments during the 
hearing and was biased against them. 
Specifically, the complainant alleged the 
judicial officer said “impossible” a few times 
during the hearing in response to evidence 
they gave.

Decision 

The Commission investigated the allegations 
including listening to a recording of the 
proceeding. It found that the judicial officer 
did not make the comments alleged or any 
inappropriate comments during the hearing. 
Nor did the Commission find anything to 
suggest the judicial officer was biased. The 
complaint was dismissed on the ground that 
the allegations in the complaint were not 
substantiated. 

Case studies 
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Complaints

Number of complaints received 

In its first year of operations, the Commission 
received 262 complaints and 2 referrals from 
226 complainants. 

A total of 158 judicial officers and non-judicial 
VCAT members were the subject of a complaint.

Key result highlights 2017–2018

38% 
within  

30 days

26% 
within more  

than 90 days

24% 
within  

60 days

12% 
within  

90 days

Time taken to deal with 
complaints
At 30 June 2018, 73% of all complaints and 
referrals received had been finalised by the 
Commission.

• 38% of complaints and referrals were 
finalised within 30 days of receipt

• 24% of complaints and referrals were 
finalised within 60 days of receipt 

• 12% of complaints and referrals were 
finalised within 90 days of receipt

• 26% of complaints and referrals were 
finalised within more than 90 days of receipt.

Outcome of complaints 
There are three possible outcomes available 
to the Commission when it receives a 
complaint or a referral: 

i. dismiss the complaint or referral

ii. refer the complaint or referral to the Head 
of Jurisdiction with recommendations about 
the future conduct of the judicial officer 

iii. refer the complaint or referral to an 
Investigating Panel.

Of the 264 complaints and referrals received:

• 182 were dismissed 

• 2 were referred to a Head of Jurisdiction

• 2 were referred to an Investigating Panel

• 6 were withdrawn

• 72 remained open.

262 complaints 
and 2 referrals from 
226 complainants

Of the 264 complaints 
and referrals received 
182 were dismissed.

The complaint rate 
was approximately 
0.05% and 0.1% for the 
Magistrates’ Court and 
VCAT respectively.
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Nature and scope of 
complaints 

Complaints by jurisdiction 
The distribution of complaints across the 
jurisdictions broadly reflects the volume of 
proceedings dealt with by the jurisdictions. 
Notably, the Magistrates’ Court and VCAT 
are the jurisdictions which deal with the 
highest volume of proceedings and also 
have the largest number of complaints.

While the number of complaints received is 
significant, it represents an extremely small 
proportion of the total number of cases dealt 
with by the Victorian Courts and VCAT in 

Nature of complaint 
Forty percent of complaints received alleged a 
judicial officer or non-judicial VCAT member had 
made an incorrect decision. The Commission 
has no jurisdiction to consider complaints solely 
about the merits or lawfulness of a decision 
or procedural ruling. It is necessary to appeal 
a decision to a higher court if a complainant 
believes an error has been made. Twenty-eight 
and-a-half percent of complaints alleged there 
had been a failure to give a fair hearing. Many 
complainants made multiple allegations.

Jurisdiction Number of complaints

Magistrates’ Court 103

VCAT 85

County Court 31

Supreme Court 25

Children’s Court 13

Coroners Court 6

Other 1

Nature of complaint Total complaint % Total 

Incorrect decision 106 40.15%

Failure to give fair hearing 75 28.41%

Bias 52 19.70%

Inappropriate comments 41 15.53%

Failure to act in judicial manner 32 12.50%

Overbearing conduct 28 10.61%

Rudeness 21 7.95%

Denial of due process 20 7.58%

Delay 13 4.92%

Prejudice 8 3.03%

Apprehension of bias 7 2.65%

Corruption 7 2.65%

Conflict of interest 4 1.52%

Failure to provide medical assistance 2 0.76%

Inappropriate questions 1 0.38%

Incapacity 1 0.38%

the 2017/2018 financial year. For example, 
103 complaints were received about the 
Magistrates’ Court which finalised 175,657 
cases during the same period. Over the same 
period 85 complaints were received about VCAT 
which finalised 83,424 matters. The complaint 
rate was approximately 0.05% and 0.1% for the 
Magistrates’ Court and VCAT respectively. Given 
the volume of work performed by the Victorian 
Courts and VCAT, the number of complaints is, 
therefore, comparatively small. 
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Exercise of powers by an 
Investigating Panel
The following powers were exercised by an 
Investigating Panel under part 5 of the Act:

Number of search warrants issued by 
Supreme Court on application of an 
Investigating Panel

nil

Number of hearings held by 
Investigating Panels and whether 
hearing was held in public or private

nil

Number of notices issued under s.69 
of the Act requiring production of a 
document or thing

2

Number of witness summonses under 
s.70 of the Act

7

Number of claims for privilege 
determined by Supreme Court under 
s.95 of the Act 

nil

Outcomes of investigations by 
an Investigating Panel
The outcomes of the investigations by the one 
Investigating Panel appointed during the first 
year of operations were:

Number of matters dismissed and 
grounds on which those matters were 
dismissed

nil

Number of reports made under s.34(4) 
(report to Governor in Council – judicial 
officer) or (5) (report to Attorney-General 
– non-judicial VCAT member)

nil

Number of referrals made under s.34(3) 
(referral to a Head of Jurisdiction)

nil

The two referrals referred to an Investigating 
Panel were still ongoing at 30 June 2018 and no 
outcome had been determined. 

Other information

Number of mandatory notifications 
of corrupt conduct made to the IBAC 
under s.25 (by the Commission) or s.48 
(by an Investigating Panel)

nil

Number of mandatory notifications 
made to the Victorian Inspectorate 
under s.26 (by the Commission) or s.49 
(by an Investigating Panel)

nil

Number of vexatious complainant 
declarations made by the Commission 
under s.140

nil

Protected Disclosures
A copy of the Procedures for Making and 
Handling Protected Disclosures established  
by the Commission can be accessed at  
www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au/complaints/
protected-disclosures.

Number and types of 
disclosures notified to IBAC 
under s.21(2), Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012

1 disclosure 
about a judicial 
officer under 
s.16A of the Act

Number and types of 
protected disclosure 
complaints referred to the 
Commission by the IBAC

nil

Number and types of 
protected disclosure 
complaints investigated by 
the Commission

nil

Number and types of 
protected disclosure 
complaints dismissed by the 
Commission

nil

Number of applications for 
an injunction in respect of 
detrimental action in reprisal 
for a protected disclosure 
made by the Commission 
under s.50 of the Act

nil

Grounds of dismissal 
The Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016 
prescribes a range of grounds upon which a 
complaint or referral must or may be dismissed. 
Thirty-two percent of matters dismissed were 
on the ground that the complaint relates solely 
to the merits or lawfulness of a decision or 
procedural ruling. Thirty-one percent of matters 
dismissed were on the basis that it was not 
substantiated. Some complaints are dismissed 
on multiple grounds. 

Outcome Total complaints % Total 

s.16(3)(b) Merits or lawfulness of decision 125 31.57%

s.16(4)(a) Complaint not substantiated 122 30.81%

s.16(2)(b) Not judicial officer or VCAT member 52 13.13%

s.16(1)(b)(ii) Does not infringe standard of conduct expected 41 10.35%

s.16(4)(c) Further investigation unnecessary or unjustified 34 8.59%

s.16(4)(b) Too remote a time 10 2.53%

s.16(1)(b)(i) Does not affect performance of function 2 0.51%

s.16(3)(c)(i) Relates to private life, doesn’t affect performance 1 0.25%

s.16(3)(c)(ii) Relates to private life – doesn’t affect suitability 1 0.25%

s.16(3)(e) Officer resigned, no longer in office 1 0.25%
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SECTION 4

People and 
workforce 

Staff at the Commission 
The following table sets out the head count, 
full-time staff equivalent (FTE) and level of all 
public service employees of the Commission:

Table 1

EFT VPS level Positions

1 EO3 Director

1 VPS6 Principal Lawyer

1 VPS5 Senior Lawyer

1.6 VPS4 Operations Manager and 
Complaints Officer

1 VPS5 contract 
position  
(6 months)

Senior Lawyer

1 VPS 4 contract 
position  
(5 months)

Operations Manager

Comparative workforce data 
The table below discloses the head count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all active public service 
employees of the Commission, employed in the last full pay period in June 2018 of the current reporting period.

Table 2: Details of employment levels in June 2018

All employees 
number  

(head count) FTE

Ongoing  
full-time  

(head count)
Part-time 

(head count) FTE

Fixed term and 
casual number 
(head count) FTE

Gender

Women 6 5.6 3 1 3.6 1 1

Men 1 1 1 0 1 0 0

Self-described 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Age

15-24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

25-34 1 1 1 0 1 0 0

35-44 3 2.6 1 1 1.6 1 1

45-54 3 3 2 0 2 1 1

55-64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

65+ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VPS 1-6 grades

VPS 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VPS 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VPS 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VPS 4 3 2.6 1 1 1.6 1 1

VPS 5 2 2 1 0 1 1 1

VPS 6 1 1 1 0 1 0 0

Senior employees

STS

PS

SMA

SRA

Executives 1 1 1 0 1 0 0

Other

Total employees 7 6.6 4 1 4.6 2 2
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Executive Officer (EO) data 
Table 3: Total number of EOs for the 
Commission, broken down into gender

All Women Men
Self 

described

Class No. Var. No. Var. No. Var. No. Var.

EO-3 1 1

Total 1 1

This EO data was current at 30 June 2018. 
Note 7.1 in the Financial statements provides 
information about executive remuneration. 

Employment values 

Work and conduct principles 
The Commission is committed to applying 
merit and equity principles when appointing 
staff. The selection processes ensure that 
applicants are assessed and evaluated fairly 
and equitably on the basis of the key selection 
criteria and other accountabilities without 
discrimination. Employees have been correctly 
classified in workforce data collections.

Workforce Inclusion Policy 
The Commission is working towards creating 
a balanced working environment where 
equal opportunity and diversity are valued. 
The organisation values staff with non-
binary gender identities at all levels from VPS 
officers right through to Executive level.

The Commission acknowledges that due to 
historic and current barriers to disclosure of 
non-binary gender identities, staff may not 
choose to disclose this information. As a result, 
the organisation’s targets or quotas are not 
currently a useful way to promote opportunities 
for gender diverse staff at all levels. 

Occupational Health 
and Safety (OH&S)
The goal of the Commission’s Occupational 
Health and Safety (OH&S) strategy is to ensure 
all staff remains safe and healthy at work. 
An OH&S Management System has been 
implemented across the Commission. 

Each staff member at the Commission has 
been provided with a stand-up/adjustable desk, 
standing mats and under desk foot stools.

Chairs in the office are ergonomic and there are 
headsets available for staff members to use for 
longer phone calls and conference calls should 
the need arise. 

The office space is kept clean and tidy and OH&S 
requirements for walkways have been met to 
ensure accessibility and safety for all staff. 

Health and wellbeing 
A significant number of complainants who 
contact the Commission are distressed, exhibit 
difficult behaviour or disclose mental health 
conditions. Dealing with these people can 
negatively impact the wellbeing of staff. 

The Commission has implemented a number 
of measures to address this risk. Staff 
members attend weekly debrief meetings 
to discuss challenging interactions with 
complainants. They are encouraged to debrief 
and take a break after dealing with a difficult 
phone call. A free Employee Assistance 
Scheme is available to all staff. 

Learning and 
development 
The Commission pays the membership fees of 
The Society of Consumers Affairs Professional 
(SOCAP) for permanent staff. Staff members 
have undertaken a number of training courses 
for complaints handling professionals run by 
SOCAP.  Staff members can also access a range 
of learning and development opportunities 
provided through Court Services Victoria, both 
online and face-to-face.
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SECTION 5

Disclosures
Financial summary and review

One year financial summary
The budget provides a comparison of the 
financial statements for the Commission and the 
forecast financial information. 

The financial summary and review is not subject 
to audit by the Victorian Auditor General’s Office 
and is not prepared on the same basis as the 
Commission’s financial statements.

Refer to the financial statements for comparisons 
of budget and actual.

Financial summary
2017–18  

$’000

Revenue from government 1,422 

Total income from transactions 1,422 

Total expenses from transactions 1,236 

Net result from transactions –  
surplus / (deficit)

186

Net result for the period – surplus / (deficit) 213

Net cash flow from operating activities 151

Total assets 768

Total liabilities 554

Consultancy expenditure 

Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater) 
In 2017–18, there were five consultancies used by the Commission where the total fees payable to the 
consultants were $10,000 or greater. The total expenditure incurred during 2017–18 in relation to these 
consultancies was $353,528.86 (excl. GST). 

Table 1: Details of individual consultancies over $10k

Consultant 
($ thousand)

Purpose of 
consultancy

Start date End date Total 
approved 
project fee 
(excl. GST)

Expenditure 
2017–18  
(excl. GST)

Future 
expenditure 
(excl. GST)

$215,528.29 IT CMS 17/10/2017 25/06/2018 $246,575.35 $215,528.29 $31,047.06

$65,853.70 Legal 
advice to 
Investigating 
Panel as 
Solicitor 
Assisting

18/05/2018 29/06/2018 $89,303.00 $65,853.70 $23,449.30

$42,455.40 IT advice & 
research on 
new CMS

6/09/2017 12/09/2017 $67,127.27 $42,455.40 Nil

$18,091.47 Temporary 
admin staff

19/03/2018 4/05/2018 $18,091.47 $51,500

$11,600.00 Probity 
advice

29/08/2017 29/08/2017 $11,600.00 Nil
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Details of consultancies under $10,000 
In 2017–18, there were seven consultancies engaged during the year, 
where the total fees payable to the individual consultancies was less than 
$10,000. The total expenditure incurred during 2017–18 in relation to these 
consultancies was $15,639.22 (excl. GST). 

Table 2: Details of individual consultancies under $10k

Consultant 
($ thousand)

Purpose of 
consultancy

Start date End date Total 
approved 
project fee 
(excl. GST)

Expenditure 
2017–18 
(excl. GST)

Future 
expenditure 
(excl. GST)

$4,000.00 Legal advice 
on disclosure 
of decisions

19/03/2018 19/03/2018 $4,000.00 Nil

$3,800.00 Annual 
report 
compilation

27/03/2018 26/06/2018 $40,000.00 $3,800.00 $36,200.00

$2,397.60 Graphic 
design

31/07/2017 12/10/2017 $2,397.60

$2,090.91 Legal advice 
on protected 
disclosures

4/04/2018 4/04/2018 $2,090.91 Nil

$1,771.00 IT services 
from CenItex

28/02/2018 28/02/2018 $1,771.00

$972.21 Legal advice 
from VGSO

14/08/2017 23/10/2017 $972.21

$607.50 IT service 
management 
plan review

20/09/2017 20/09/2017 $607.50 Nil

Information and Communication 
Technology (ICT) expenditure

Details of ICT expenditure 
For the 2017–18 reporting period, the Commission had a total ICT 
expenditure of $271,325.60 (excl. GST), with the details shown below. 

Table 3: Total ICT expenditure 

($ thousand)

All operational ICT 
expenditure

ICT expenditure related 
to projects to create or 
enhance ICT capabilities

Business As Usual (BAU) 
ICT expenditure

Non-Business As 
Usual (non-BAU) ICT 
expenditure

Operational expenditure Capital expenditure

$31,659.66

$239,665.94

Total = Operational 
expenditure and capital 
expenditure

$271,325.60

In this case, ICT expenditure refers to the Commission’s costs in 
providing business-enabling ICT services within the current reporting 
period. It comprises BAU ICT expenditure and non-BAU ICT expenditure. 

Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the 
Commission’s current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is all 
remaining ICT expenditure which mainly relates to ongoing activities 
that operate and maintain the current ICT capability.
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Office-based 
environmental impacts 

Energy and water 
consumption
The Commission shares its offices with another 
state government entity which it sub-leases 
from. Water usage is not billed separately as it is 
included in the lease of the building. Electricity 
consumption is billed separately, however because 
the Commission shares its offices and it is its first 
year of operation, it cannot make a year-on-year 
comparison.

Paper purchasing
Paper supplies are bought through the State 
Purchasing Contract with Complete Office 
Supplies (COS). The paper used is 100% Recycled 
Bright White Australian (made in Victoria) and is 
certified carbon neutral under the National Carbon 
Offset Standard (NCOS) Carbon Neutral Program.

Plants
There are planter boxes in the main office and in 
individual offices which staff members tend to.

Transportation
All staff use sustainable transport to get to and 
from work. The main mode is public transport. 
Four staff members use active transport; one 
person walks and the other cycles. Showers are 
available on site.

Waste generation
Waste is managed through a contract supplied 
by building management of the leased premises 
and it includes Comix/Recyclables. All paper is 
recycled.

Freedom of Information 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (the FOI Act) 
allows the public a right to access documents 
held by the Commission. The purpose of the 
Act is to give the community the right to access 
information held by government departments, 
local councils, Ministers and other bodies subject 
to the Act. 

An applicant has a right to apply for access 
to documents held by the Commission. This 
includes documents created by the Commission, 
or supplied to the Commission by an external 
organisation or individual. It may also include 
maps, films, microfiche, photographs, computer 
printouts, computer discs, tape recordings and 
videotapes. 

The FOI Act does not apply to a document to 
the extent to which the document discloses 
information that relates to a complaint, referral 
or investigation of the Commission.

Information on the type of material produced 
by the Commission is available on its website 
under its Part II Information Statement. 

The FOI Act allows the Commission to refuse 
access, either fully or partially, to certain 
documents or information. Examples of 
documents that may not be accessed include: 
cabinet documents, some internal working 
documents, law enforcement documents, 
documents covered by legal professional 
privilege, such as legal advice, personal 
information about other people, and information 
provided to the Commission in-confidence. 

From 1 September 2017, the Act was amended 
to reduce the FOI processing time for requests 
received from 45 to 30 days. In some cases, this 
time may be extended. 

If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made 
by the Commission, under s.49A of the FOI Act, 
they have the right to ask for a review by the Office 
of the Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC) 
within 28 days of receiving a decision letter.

Making a request 
FOI requests can be lodged online at www.foi.vic.
gov.au. An application fee of $28.40 applies and 
access charges may also apply if the document 
pool is large, and the search for material is time 
consuming. 

Access to documents can also be attained via a 
written request to the Commission’s Freedom of 
Information team, as seen in s.17 of the FOI Act 1982. 

When making a FOI request, applicants must 
request information in writing, and clearly identify 
what types of material/documents they are 
looking for. 

Requests for documents go to:

Freedom of Information Officer  
Judicial Commission of Victoria 
GPO Box 4305 
Melbourne VIC 3001

Compliance with the 
Building Act 1993 
The Commission does not own or control any 
government buildings and therefore is excused 
from notifying its compliance with the building and 
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy 
Act 2003
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy 
Act 2003 must be applied to all procurement 
activities valued at $3 million, or more, in 
metropolitan Melbourne and for statewide 
projects, or $1 million or more in regional Victoria. 

The Commission did not commence or complete 
any such procurement activities in 2017/18.

Compliance with the 
Protected Disclosure 
Act 2012 
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 encourages 
and assists people in making disclosures of 
improper conduct by public officers and public 
bodies. The Act provides protection to people who 
make disclosures in accordance with the Act and 
establishes a system for the matters that need to 
be investigated and require action to be taken. 

The Commission can receive Protected Disclosures 
about judicial officers and non-judicial members of 
VCAT. The Commission has published Procedures 
for Making and Handling Protected Disclosures on 
its website.

The Commission does not accept improper 
conduct by employees. It is committed to 
ensuring transparency and accountability in its 
administrative and management practices and 
supports disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, 
conduct involving a substantial mismanagement of 
public resources, or conduct involving a substantial 
risk to public health and safety or the environment. 

The Commission will take reasonable steps to 
protect people who make such disclosures from 
any harmful action that could come from making 
such disclosures. It will also afford natural justice 
to the person who is the subject of the disclosure 
to the extent it is legally possible. 

Reporting procedures 
Disclosures of improper conduct by the 
Commission, or any of its employees may be 
made to: 

• Director of the Commission

• Alternatively, disclosures can also be made 
directly to the Independent Broad based 
Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC)

  Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street 
Melbourne, VIC 3000 
Phone: 1300 735 135 
Internet: www.ibac.vic.gov.au 
 Email: [see the website above for the secure 
email disclosure process, which also provides 
for anonymous disclosures.]
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Further information 
The Procedures for Making and Handling 
Protected Disclosures, which outlines the system 
for reporting disclosures of improper conduct 
or detrimental action by the Commission, or any 
of its employees or officers, is available on its 
website. 

Disclosures under the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
The number of disclosures made by an individual 
to the Commission and notified to IBAC.

2017–18 No.

Assessable disclosures 0

Compliance with the 
Carers Recognition Act 
2012 
The Commission complies with its obligations 
under the Carers Recognition Act 2012 (Vic) by 
ensuring all new employees are aware of their 
rights under the legislation. It also ensures that 
existing employees, who have carer responsibilities, 
are supported to balance work responsibilities 
and caring commitments in accordance with the 
Victorian Public Service Enterprise Agreement 2016.

The Commission also has people management 
policies that support the guiding principles of the 
Act, including those listed below.

• Employee Assistance Program

• Personal/Carer’s Leave Policy

• Flexible Working Arrangements Policy

• Respect in the Workplace Policy

• Hours of Work Policy

• Purchased Leave Policy

Additional Commission 
information 
In compliance with the Standing Directions of 
the Minister for Finance, the items listed below 
have been retained by the Commission and are 
available on request, subject to the provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982. 

a. A statement that declarations of pecuniary 
interests have been duly completed by all 
relevant officers of the Commission

b. Details of shares held by a senior officer as 
nominee or held beneficially in a statutory 
authority or subsidiary

c. Details of publications produced by the 
Commission about itself, and how these can 
be obtained

d. Details of assessments and measures 
undertaken to improve the occupational health 
and safety of employees

e. A list of major Committees sponsored by the 
Commission, the purposes of each Committee 
and the extent to which the purposes have 
been achieved

f. Details of all consultancies and contractors 
including:

i. consultants/contractors engaged

ii. services provided

iii. expenditure committed to for each 
engagement

This information is available on request from the 
Commission.

Attestation for 
financial management 
compliance with 
Ministerial Standing 
Direction 5.1.4 
The Honourable Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, 
on behalf of the Board, certifies that the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria has complied with the 
applicable Standing Directions of the Minister 
for Finance under the Financial Management 
Act 1994 and Instructions.

Anne Ferguson 
The Honourable Chief Justice 
Chair of the Board 
Judicial Commission of Victoria

Melbourne
12 November 2018

Compliance with 
DataVic Access Policy 
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy 
issued by the Victorian Government in 2012, the 
Commission made zero data sets available on the 
DataVic website in 2017–18. 

Information included in this annual report will also 
be available at www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au 
in electronic readable format. 
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SECTION 6

Financial 
statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

How this report is structured 
Judicial Commission of Victoria (JCV) has 
presented its audited general purpose financial 
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 
2018 in the following structure to provide users 
with the information about JCV’s stewardship of 
resources entrusted to it.

Declarations:
Declaration in the financial statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Financial statements:
Comprehensive operating statement

Balance sheet

Cash flow statement

Statement of changes in equity

Notes to the financial 
statements
1.  About this report

The basis on which the financial statements have 
been prepared and compliance with reporting 
regulations

2.  Funding delivery of our services

2.1   Summary of income that funds the delivery of 
services

3.   The cost of delivering our services

3.1   Expenses incurred in delivery of services

3.2  Supplies and services

4.   Key assets available to support output 
delivery

4.1   Property, plant and equipment

4.2  Intangible assets

5.   Other assets and liabilities

5.1  Receivables

5.2 Payables

6.  Financing our operations

6.1  Cash flow information and balances

6.2 Commitments for expenditure

6.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

7.  Other disclosures

7.1  Responsible persons

7.2 Key management personnel

7.3 Remuneration of Executives

7.4 Remuneration of auditors

7.5 Other accounting policies

7.6 Subsequent events

7.7  Australian Accounting Standards issued that 
are not yet effective

8.   Glossary of technical terms and style 
conventions

Judicial Commission of Victoria – 
financial statements 
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Declaration in the financial statements
The attached financial statements for the Judicial Commission of Victoria have been prepared 
in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the  
Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting 
Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, 
balance sheet, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes, 
presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2018 and financial position of 
the Judicial Commission of Victoria at 30 June 2018.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 12 November 2018.

Mary Anne Ferguson 
The Honourable Chief Justice 
Chair of the Board 
Judicial Commission of Victoria

Melbourne
12 November 2018

Richard Besley 
Director
Judicial Commission of Victoria

Melbourne
12 November 2018

Salvatore Costanzo
Chief Finance Officer
Judicial Commission of Victoria

Melbourne
12 November 2018

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Judicial Commission of Victoria 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Judicial Commission of Victoria (the authority) 
which comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2018 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration in the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the authority as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the authority in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the authority’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the authority’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
authority to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

MELBOURNE 
13 November 2018 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

Comprehensive operating statement 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Note
2018 

$’000

Continuing operations 

Income from transactions

Grant income 2.1 1,422

Total income from transactions 1,422

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1.1 825

Supplies and services 3.2 375

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.1 35

Total expenses from transactions 1,236

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 186

Other economic flows included in net result

Net gain arising from revaluation of long service leave liability

27

Total other economic flows included in net result 27

Net result 213

Comprehensive result 213

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheet 
as at 30 June 2018

Note
2018 

$’000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 6.1 –

Receivables 5.1 332

Total financial assets 332

Non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 252

Intangible assets 4.2 184

Total non-financial assets 436

Total assets 768

Liabilities

Payables 5.2 442

Employee provisions 3.1.2 112

Total liabilities 554

Net assets 213

Equity

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 213

Contributed capital -

Net worth 213

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Cash flow statement 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Note
2018 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from government 1,090

Total receipts 1,090

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (939)

Total payments (939)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.1.1 151

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of non-financial assets (471)

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (471)

Cash flows from financing activities

Advance from Court Services Victoria 320

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 320

Net increase (decrease) in cash held -

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of changes in equity 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Accumulated  
surplus/(deficit) 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2017

Net result for the year

-

213

- 

213

Balance at 30 June 2018 213 213
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The Judicial Commission of Victoria (JCV)
was established on 1 July 2017 under the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016 as an 
independent body to investigate complaints about 
judicial officers and non-judicial members of the 
Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT). 
JCV commenced operations on 1 July 2017 and 
as this is the first year of operations there are no 
comparative figures contained within this report.

JCV’s activities and governance are defined within 
the Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016. 
JCV’s activities include investigating complaints 
about judicial officers and non-judicial members 
of VCAT .

JCV’s principal address is  
GPO Box 4305, Melbourne, Vic 3000.

The financial report has been prepared on a going 
concern basis. JCV receives grant income from 
appropriations received by Court Services Victoria. 
JCV’s grant income budget for the 2018–19 financial 
year of $1.300 million approved by the Attorney-
General on 22 June 2018 enables JCV to incur 
expenditures and liabilities. In addition, the Treasurer, 
on 19 October 2018, approved a Treasurer’s Advance 
of $0.400 million for investigation costs for the 
2018–19 financial year. The approvals of the grant 
income budget and Treasurer’s Advance ensure 
there is adequate cash flow support to enable 
JCV to meet its current and future operational 
obligations as and when they fall due.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are in Australian 
dollars and the historical cost convention is 
used unless a different measurement basis is 
specifically disclosed in the note associated with 
the item measured on a different basis. Figures 
in the tables and in the text have been rounded. 
Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums 
of components reflect rounding. All amounts in 
the financial statements have been rounded to 
the nearest $1,000 unless otherwise stated.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied 
in the preparation of these financial statements 
whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and 
expenses are recognised in the reporting period 
to which they relate, regardless of when cash is 
received or paid.

Consistent with the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 1004 Contributions, 
contributions by owners (that is contributed 
capital and its repayment) are treated as equity 
transactions and, therefore, do not form part of 
the income and expenses of JCV.

Additions to net assets that have been 
designated as contributions by owners are 
recognised as contributed capital. Other 
transfers that are in the nature of contributions 
to, or distributions by owners, have also been 
designated as contributions by owner.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative 
restructurings are treated as distributions to, or 
contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities 
arising from administrative restructurings are 
treated as distributions to owners.

These financial statements cover JCV as an 
individual reporting entity and include all of its 
controlled activities of JCV.

Compliance information
These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable AAS, 
which include Interpretations issued by the AASB. 
In particular, they are presented in a manner 
consistent with the requirements of AASB 1049 
Whole-of-Government and General Government 
Sector Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs 
applicable to not-for-profit entities have been 
applied. Accounting policies selected and 
applied in these financial statements ensure 
that the resulting financial information satisfies 
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby 
ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions or other events is reported.

Introduction
JCV is an independent body established by legislation to investigate complaints about judicial 
officers and non-judicial members of the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT).

2.1 SUMMARY OF INCOME THAT FUNDS THE DELIVERY OF SERVICES

2018 
$’000

Output appropriations -

Grant income 1,422

Total income from transactions 1,422

Income is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to JCV 
and the income can be reliably measured at fair value. Where applicable, amounts disclosed 
as income are net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes.

Grant income

JCV is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory function by accrual-
based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by Parliament through Court Services 
Victoria (CSV).

1. About this report 2. Funding delivery of services
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Introduction
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by JCV in delivering the services and 
outputs it received income for, as outlined in section 2.

Structure
3.1  Expenses incurred in delivery of services

3.2 Supplies and services

3.1 EXPENSES INCURRED IN DELIVERY OF SERVICES

Notes
2018 

$’000

Employee benefit expenses 3.1.1 825

Supplies and services 3.2 375

Total expenses incurred in delivery of services 1,200

3.1.1 Employee benefit expenses in the comprehensive operating statement

Defined contribution superannuation expense 3.1.3 65

Salaries and wages 640

Leave expenses (annual leave and long service leave) 59

Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax, training and workcover levy) 61

Total employee expenses 825

Employee expenses encompasses all costs related to employment, including wages and salaries, 
fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums.

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to superannuation is 
employer contributions for members of defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or 
payable during the reporting period.

3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 
and long service leave services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the 
period the services are delivered.

2018 
$'000

Current provisions:

Annual leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 24

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 3

Long service leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 43

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months -

Provisions for on-costs

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 13

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 1

Total current provisions for employee benefits 84

Non-current provisions

Employee benefits 24

On-costs 4

Total non-current provisions for employee benefits 28

Total provisions for employee benefits 112

Reconciliation of movement in on-cost provision

2018 
$'000

Opening balance -

Additional provisions recognised 18

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits -

Closing balance 18

Current 14

Non-current 4

Total 18

3. The cost of delivering services
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Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave: Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave and on-costs) are recognised as part of the employee benefit provision 
as current liabilities. Because JCV does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these 
liabilities.

The liability for salaries and wages is recognised in the balance sheet at remuneration rates that are 
current at the reporting date. As JCV expects the liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of 
reporting date, they are measured at undiscounted amounts.

The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability and measured at the undiscounted amount 
expected to be paid, as JCV does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered 
probable that the average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in 
the future. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as it is taken.

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are not 
employee benefits. They are disclosed separately as a component of the provision for employee 
benefits when the employment to which they relate has occurred.

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as a current liability even where JCV does not 
expect to settle the liability within 12 months, as it will not have the unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of the current long service leave liability are measured at:

 – Undiscounted value – if JCV expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

 – Present value – if JCV does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is a conditional right to 
defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 
This non-current long service leave liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current long service leave liability is 
recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond 
interest rates for which it is then recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the net result.

3.1.3 Superannuation contributions

Employees of JCV are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and JCV contributes to defined 
contribution plans.

Paid contribution 
for the year 2018 

$’000

Contribution 
outstanding at 
year end 2018 

$’000

Defined contribution plans:

VicSuper 19 -

Various other 46 1

Total 64 1

3.2 SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

2018 
$'000

Accommodation and property services 125

Contractors, professional services and consultants 91

Legal costs incurred in carrying out investigations 3.2.1 66

Printing, stationery and other office expenses 25

Technology services 27

Other 41

Total supplies and services 375

Supplies and services expenses generally represent day-to-day running costs incurred in normal 
operations.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
incurred.

3.2.1 Investigation expenditure

A liability for Investigating Panel expenditure is recognised when a present obligation for such 
expenditure has been incurred as a result of a complaint or referral being referred to an Investigating 
Panel, it is likely that there will be a consequent outflow of economic benefits and the amount of the 
obligation can be measured reliably.
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Introduction
JCV controls non-financial assets that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting activities. 
These non-financial assets represent the key resources that have been entrusted to JCV to be utilised 
for delivery of its outputs.

Structure
4.1  Property, plant and equipment

4.2 Intangible assets

4.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Gross carrying 
amount

2018 
$’000

Accumulated 
depreciation

2018 
$’000

Net carrying 
amount 

2018 
$’000

Leasehold improvements at cost 238 (20) 218

Plant and equipment at cost 36 (2) 34

Assets under construction at cost -   -   -   

Total property, plant and equipment 274 (22) 252

Initial recognition: Items of property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and 
subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is 
acquired for no or nominal cost, a fair value is determined at the date of acquisition.

The cost of constructed non−financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used 
in construction, direct labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overheads.

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining 
term of the lease or its estimated useful lives.

Subsequent measurement: Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s 
highest and best use (considering legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset and public 
announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset). This net carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment is considered reasonable.

4.1.1 Depreciation and amortisation charge for the period

2018 
$'000

Leasehold improvements at cost 20

Plant and equipment at cost 2

Software 13

Total Depreciation 35

All property, plant and equipment that have finite useful lives, are depreciated.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, 
less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the 
different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below:

Asset Useful life years

Leasehold improvements 6

Plant and equipment 5 to 10

Intangible assets 5

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

Impairment: Non−financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. 
Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written off as an 
‘other economic flow’, except to the extent that it can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus 
amount applicable to that class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount will be 
increased to its recoverable amount. However this reversal will not increase the asset’s carrying amount 
above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised in prior years.

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of current replacement cost and 
fair value less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows 
is measured at the higher of the present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the 
asset and fair value less costs to sell.

4.1.2 Reconciliation of movements in carrying values of property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
improvements at cost

Plant and  
equipment at cost Total

2018 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance - - -

Additions 238 36 274

Depreciation (20) (2) (22)

Closing balance 218 34 252

4. Key assets available to support output delivery
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4.2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer Software 2018 
$'000

Gross carrying amount

Opening balance -

Additions 197

Additions to work in progress

Gross value at the end of the financial year 197

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Opening balance -

Amortisation (13)

Closing balance (13)

Net book value at the end of the financial year 184

Notes:

(i)  The consumption of intangible produced assets is included in ‘depreciation’ line item on the comprehensive operating 
statement.

(ii)  Intangible assets include Technology-Based assets being computer software.

INITIAL RECOGNITION

Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 
Intangible Assets is met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised at cost. Subsequently, 
intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation and amortisation begins when the asset is available for 
use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

Subsequent measurement intangible non-produced assets with finite lives are amortised as an ‘other 
economic flow’ on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The amortisation period is five years.

Impairment of intangible assets intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets 
not yet available for use) are tested annually for impairment and whenever there is an indication that 
the asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment whenever 
an indication of impairment is identified.

Introduction
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from JCV’s operations.

Structure
5.1  Receivables

5.2 Payables

5.1 RECEIVABLES

2018 
$'000

Statutory

Amounts owing from Victorian Government 332

Total receivables 332

Represented by: 
Current receivables

 
332

Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are initially recognised at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment, but are not classified 
as financial instruments. Amounts owing from the Victorian Government represent funding for all 
commitments incurred and are drawn from the Consolidated Fund as the commitments fall due.

5. Other assets and liabilities
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5.2 PAYABLES

2018 
$'000

Current payables

Contractual

Trade creditors and other payables 106

Salaries and wages 16

Statutory

Amounts payable to Court Services Victoria (CSV) 320

Total payables 442

Represented by: 
Current payables 442

Payables consist of:

 – contractual payables classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts 
payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to JCV prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid; and

 – statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are 
not classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at 
amortised cost, because they do not arise from contracts.

Contractual payables have an average maturity of 30 days.

The terms and conditions of amounts payable to the government and agencies vary according to 
the particular agreements and as they are not legislative payables, they are not classified as financial 
instruments.

Introduction
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by JCV during its operations and 
other information related to the financing activities.

Structure
6.1  Cash flow information and balances

6.2 Commitments for expenditure

6.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

6.1 CASH FLOW INFORMATION AND BALANCES

Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents for JCV totalled $nil. The organisation does not hold a 
bank account in its name and uses CSV’s bank account.

Due to the state’s investment policy and funding arrangements, JCV’s expenditure, including in the 
form of EFT and cheques drawn for the payments to its suppliers and creditors are made via the public 
account. The public account remits the cash required for JCV to meet the financial obligations as they 
fall due via CSV.

These funding arrangements may result in JCV having a notional shortall in the cash required, and any 
monies owed to JCV, are received via CSV through the State Administered Unit (SAU) debtors account. 
Amounts receivable at balance date are shown in note 5.1.

JCV operates under the government fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days 
and in the events of a dispute, making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

6.1.1 Reconciliation of net result for the period to cash flow from operating activities

2018 
$'000

Net result for the period 213

Non-cash movements:

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 35

Movements in net assets and liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in payables 122

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 112

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 151

6. Financing our operations
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6.2 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

Commitments for future expenditure include operating commitments arising from contracts. 
These commitments are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive of GST. These future 
expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the 
balance sheet.

6.2.1 Total commitments payable

Nominal amounts: 2018

Less than  
1 year  
$'000

Between  
1 and  

5 years 
$'000

Over  
5 years 

$'000
Total  

$'000

Accommodation lease commitments payable

Operating commitments payable

124

28

-

36

-

-

124

63

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 152 36 - 188

Less GST recoverable 14 3 - 17

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 138 33 - 171

6.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed 
and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

There are no contingent assets and contigent liabilities to be reported or disclosed.

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. 
These commitments

Introduction
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, 
for the understanding of this financial report.

Structure
7.1  Responsible persons
7.2 Key management personnel
7.3 Remuneration of Executives
7.4 Remuneration of auditors
7.5 Other accounting policies
7.6 Subsequent events
7.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective

7.1 RESPONSIBLE PERSONS

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the 
reporting period.

Names

The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Accountable Officer in JCV are as follows:

Responsible Minister Period
Attorney-General, The Hon Martin Pakula MP 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Accountable officer Period
Director, Richard Besley 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable officer in connection with the management of 
JCV during the reporting period was in the range: $200,000 – $209,999

Governing body

The persons who held membership of the Board of the JCV are as follows:

Member names Period

The Honourable Chief Justice Mary Anne Ferguson, Chair 2 October 2017 to 30 June 2018 
The Honourable Chief Justice Marilyn Warren AC, Chair 1 July 2017 to 2 October 2017
The Honourable Chief Judge Peter Kidd 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
His Honour Chief Magistrate Peter Lauritsen 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
Her Honour Judge Amanda Chambers 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
Her Honour Judge Sara Hinchey 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
The Honourable Justice Michelle Quigley 1 June 2018 to 30 June 2018
The Honourable Justice Gregory Garde AO RFD 1 July 2017 to 31 May 2018
Mr Graham Atkinson 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
Ms Claire Keating 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
Ms Helen Silver AO 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
Mr Ross Herron 1 July 2017 to 13 November 2017

Remuneration: non-judicial members

2018 
No.

$0 – $9,999 4

4

7. Other disclosures
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Judicial members of the responsible body are remunerated under the Judicial Entitlements Act 2015 
as holders of judicial positions defined by the respective acts of law that create the Victorian judiciary, 
namely the Constitution Act 1975 s.82, County Court Act 1958 s.10, Magistrates Court Act shc.1 Pt1 
cl.10 and Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act. 1998 s.17AA. The judicial members receive no 
additional remuneration in their capacity as members of the Board of the Judicial Commission of Victoria.

7.2 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Key management personnel of JCV includes the responsible Minister, members of the governing body, 
and Accountable officer.

Remuneration of key management personnel comprises employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119 
Employee Benefits ) in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on behalf of 
the entity, in exchange for services rendered. Accordingly, remuneration is determined on an accruals 
basis, and is disclosed in the following categories.

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick 
leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as 
allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a 
discrete basis when employment has ceased.

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred 
compensation.

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.

The remuneration detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Minister receives. The Minister’s 
remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is 
reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.

The remuneration of the judicial members of the responsible body as holders of judicial positions is 
also excluded. The judicial members receive no additional remuneration in their capacity as members 
of the Board of the Judicial Commission of Victoria.

Remuneration of key management personnel

2018 
$’000

Short-term employee benefits 201 

Post-employment benefits 18 

Other long-term benefits 5 

Total remuneration (i) 223 

Note: 

(i)  Total remuneration includes 4 non-judicial members paid for attending sessional board meetings and the accountable officer.

7.2.1 Transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties

Given the breadth and depth of state government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian 
public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public, e.g. stamp duty and other 
government fees and charges. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur 
on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and 
Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms 
and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Purchasing Board requirements.

JCV receives grant income from appropriations received by CSV as shown in note 2.1. JCV receives 
administrative support from CSV under a memorandum of understanding between the two entities.

JCV pays the Department of Justice and Regulation (DJR) outgoings for sharing its office space as 
shown within note 3.2 Accommodation and property services.

The period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018, there were no related party transactions that involved key 
management personnel for JCV.

7.3 REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Other than the Director, who is the Accountable officer, there are no other executive officers employed 
by JCV.

7.4 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2018 
$'000

Victorian Auditor-General's Office 
Audit of the financial statements

13

Total remuneration of auditors 13

7.5 OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Contributions by owners

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, 
contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form 
part of the income and expenses of JCV.

Additions to net assets that have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners 
have also been designated as contributions by owners.

7.6 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Judicial Commission of Victoria has subsequently incurred Investigating Panel costs of $0.060 million 
relating to an ongoing investigation as at the reporting date which has subsequently been closed.
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7.7 AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) become effective for reporting periods 
commencing after the operative dates stated:

Certain new AASs have been published which are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. 
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises 
JCV of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.

Topic(a) Key requirements Effective date Impact on JCV’s financial statements

AASB 2016-3 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Clarifications to  
AASB 15

This standard amends AASB 15 to 
clarify requirements for identifying 
performance obligations, principal versus 
agent considerations and the timing 
of recognising revenue from granting a 
licence. 

The amendments require:

–  a promise to transfer to a customer a 
good or service that is ‘distinct’ to be 
recognised as a separate performance 
obligation;

–  for items purchased online, the entity 
is a principal if it obtains control of the 
good or service prior to transferring to 
the customer; and

–  for licences identified as being distinct 
from other goods or services in a 
contract, entities need to determine 
whether the licence transfers to the 
customer over time (right to use) or at a 
point in time (right to access).

1-Jan-18 The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact for 
the public sector, other than the impact 
identified for AASB 15 above. 

AASB 2016-7 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – deferral 
of AASB 15 for not-
for-profit entities

The standard defers the mandatory 
effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit 
entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 
2019.

1-Jan-19 The amending standard will defer the 
application period of AASB 15 for not-for-
profit entities to the 2019-20 reporting 
period.

AASB 2016-8 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards 
– Australian 
implementation 
guidance for not-for-
profit entities

AASB 2016-8 inserts Australian 
requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit-
entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. 

The standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 
to include requirements to assist not-for-
profit entities in applying the respective 
standards to particular transactions and 
events. 

1-Jan-19 The standard clarifies the application 
of AASB 15 and AASB 9 in a not-for-
profit context. The areas within these 
standards that are amended for not-for-
profit application include:

AASB 9

•  Statutory receivables are recognised 
and measured similarly to financial 
assets. 

AASB 15

•  The ‘customer’ does not need to 
be the recipient of goods and/or 
services;

•  The ‘contract’ could include an 
arrangement entered into under the 
direction of another party;

•  Contracts are enforceable if they are 
enforceable by legal or ‘equivalent 
means’;

•  Contracts do not have to have 
commercial substance, only economic 
substance; and

•  Performance obligations need to be 
‘sufficiently specific’ to be able to 
apply AASB 15 to these transactions.

Topic(a) Key requirements Effective date Impact on JCV’s financial statements

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments

The key changes include the simplified 
requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets, a new 
hedge accounting model and a revised 
impairment loss model to recognise 
expected impairment losses earlier, as 
opposed to the current approach that 
recognises impairment only when incurred.

1-Jan-18 The assessment has identified that the 
amendments are likely to result in earlier 
recognition of impairment losses and at 
more regular intervals. 

The initial application of AASB 9 is not 
expected to significantly impact the 
financial position however there will be a 
change to the way financial instruments 
are classified and new disclosure 
requirements.

AASB 2014-1 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards [Part E 
Financial Instruments]

Amends various AASs to reflect the 
AASB’s decision to defer the mandatory 
application date of AASB 9 to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018, and to amend reduced 
disclosure requirements. 

1-Jan-18 This amending standard will defer the 
application period of AASB 9 to the 
2018-19 reporting period in accordance 
with the transition requirements. 

AASB 2014-7 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 9

Amends various AASs to incorporate the 
consequential amendments arising from 
the issuance of AASB 9. 

1-Jan-18 The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact for the 
public sector. 

AASB 15 Revenue 
from contracts with 
customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires 
an entity to recognise revenue when the 
entity satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to 
a customer. Note that amending standard 
AASB 2015 8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – effective date of 
AASB 15 has deferred the effective date 
of AASB 15 to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
instead of 1 January 2017.

1-Jan-18 The changes in revenue recognition 
requirements in AASB 15 may result 
in changes to the timing and amount 
of revenue recorded in the financial 
statements. The standard will also 
require additional disclosures on service 
revenue and contract modifications. 

AASB 2014-5 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 15

Amends the measurement of trade 
receivables and the recognition of 
dividends as follow:

–  Trade receivables, that do not have a 
significant financing component, are to 
be measured at their transaction price, 
at initial recognition.

–  Dividends are recognised in the profit 
and loss only when:

 •  the entity’s right to receive payment 
of the dividend is established;

 •  it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the dividend 
will flow to the entity; and

 •  the amount can be measured reliably.

1 January 
2018, except 
amendments 
to AASB 9 
(Dec 2009) and 
AASB 9 (Dec 
2010) apply 
1 January 2018.

The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact for the 
public sector.

AASB 2015-8 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – effective 
date of AASB 15

The standard defers the mandatory 
effective date of AASB 15 from 1 January 
2017 to 1 January 2018.

1-Jan-18 The amending standard will defer the 
application period of AASB 15 for for-
profit entities to the 2018-19 reporting 
period in accordance with the transition 
requirements.
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8. Glossary of technical terms 
and style conventions

Topic(a) Key requirements Effective date Impact on JCV’s financial statements

AASB 16 leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 
include the recognition of operating leases 
(which are currently not recognised) on 
balance sheet.

1-Jan-19 The assessment has indicated that most 
operating leases, with the exception 
of short term and low value leases will 
come on to the balance sheet and will 
be recognised as right of use assets 
with a corresponding lease liability. 

In the operating statement, the 
operating lease expense will be replaced 
by depreciation expense of the asset 
and an interest charge.

There will be no change for lessors 
as the classification of operating and 
finance leases remains unchanged.

AASB 1058 income of 
not-for-profit entities

AASB 1058 standard will replace the 
majority of income recognition in relation 
to government grants and other types 
of contributions requirements relating 
to public sector not-for-profit entities, 
previously in AASB 1004 Contributions. 

The restructure of administrative 
arrangement will remain under AASB 
1004 and will be restricted to government 
entities and contributions by owners in a 
public sector context.

AASB 1058 establishes principles for 
transactions that are not within the scope 
of AASB 15, where the consideration to 
acquire an asset is significantly less than 
fair value to enable not-for-profit entities to 
further their objective.

1-Jan-19 The current revenue recognition for 
grants is to recognise revenue up front 
upon receipt of the funds.

This may change under AASB 1058, 
as capital grants for the construction 
of assets will need to be deferred. 
Income will be recognised over time, 
upon completion and satisfaction of 
performance obligations for assets 
being constructed, or income will 
be recognised at a point in time for 
acquisition of assets.

The revenue recognition for operating 
grants will need to be analysed to 
establish whether the requirements 
under other applicable standards need 
to be considered for recognition of 
liabilities (which will have the effect of 
deferring the income associated with 
these grants). Only after that analysis 
would it be possible to conclude 
whether there are any changes to 
operating grants.

The impact on current revenue 
recognition of the changes is the 
phasing and timing of revenue recorded 
in the profit and loss statement.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not 
effective for the 2017–18 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial and references 
changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.

AASB 2017–1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transfer of investment property, annual improvements 2014 – 
2016 cycle and other amendments

AASB 2017–4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Uncertainty over income tax treatments

AASB 2017–6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayment features with negative compensation

AASB 2017–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures

AASB 2018–1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual improvements 2015 – 2017 cycle

AASB 2018–2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Plan amendments, curtailment or settlement 

Notes:

(a)  For the current year, given the number of consequential amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 15 Revenue from 
contracts with customers, and AASB 16 Leases the standards/interpretations have been grouped together to provide a more 
relevant view of the upcoming changes.

Comprehensive result is the amount included 
in the comprehensive operating statement 
representing total change in net worth other than 
transactions with owners as owners.

Current grants are amounts payable or receivable 
for current purposes for which no economic 
benefits of equal value are receivable or payable 
in return.

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the 
consumption through wear or time of a produced 
physical or intangible asset. This expense is 
classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the 
‘net result from transactions’.

Employee benefits expenses include all costs 
related to employment including wages and 
salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments, defined benefits 
superannuation plans, and defined contribution 
superannuation plans.

Financial asset is any asset that is:

a. cash;

b. an equity instrument of another entity;

c. a contractual right:

 – to receive cash or another financial asset 
from another entity; or

 – to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially favourable 
to the entity; or

d. a contract that will or may be settled in the 
entity’s own equity instruments and is:

 – a non-derivative for which the entity is or 
may be obliged to receive a variable number 
of the entity’s own equity instruments; or

 – a derivative that will or may be settled other 
than by the exchange of a fixed amount 
of cash or another financial asset for a 
fixed number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments.

Financial liability is any liability that is:

a. a contractual obligation:

 – to deliver cash or another financial asset 
to another entity; or

 – to exchange financial assets or financial 
liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially unfavourable 
to the entity; or

b. a contract that will or may be settled in the 
entity’s own equity instruments and is:

 – a non derivative for which the entity is or 
may be obliged to deliver a variable number 
of the entity’s own equity instruments; or

 – a derivative that will or may be settled other 
than by the exchange of a fixed amount 
of cash or another financial asset for a 
fixed number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s 
own equity instruments do not include 
instruments that are themselves contracts 
for the future receipt or delivery of the 
entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial statements in this report comprise:

a. a balance sheet as at the end of the period;

b. a comprehensive operating statement for 
the period;

c. a statement of changes in equity for the 
period;

d. a cash flow statement for the period;

e. notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information;

f. comparative information in respect of the 
preceding period as specified in paragraph 
38 of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements; and

g. a statement of financial position as at the 
beginning of the preceding period when 
an entity applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial 
statements, or when it reclassifies items in 
its financial statements in accordance with 
paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.
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Grant expenses and other transfers are 
transactions in which one unit provides goods, 
services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) 
or labour to another unit without receiving 
approximately equal value in return. Grants can 
either be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the 
provision of some goods or services to the 
transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim 
to receive directly benefits of approximately equal 
value. For this reason, grants are referred to by 
the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed 
non reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of 
approximately equal value may occur, but only by 
coincidence. For example, governments are not 
obliged to provide commensurate benefits, in the 
form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers 
in return for their taxes.

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants, 
which refer to grants that are not subject to 
conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they 
may be paid as specific purpose grants, which 
are paid for a particular purpose and/or have 
conditions attached regarding their use.

General government sector comprises all 
government departments, offices and other 
bodies engaged in providing services free of 
charge or at prices significantly below their cost 
of production. General government services 
include those that are mainly non-market in 
nature, those that are largely for collective 
consumption by the community and those that 
involve the transfer or redistribution of income. 
These services are financed mainly through taxes, 
or other compulsory levies and user charges.

Leases are rights to use an asset for an agreed 
period of time in exchange for payment. Leases 
are classified at their inception as either operating 
or finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Leases 
of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
are classified as finance leases whenever the 
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership from the lessor 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Net financial worth is equal to financial assets 
minus liabilities. It is a broader measure than net 
debt as it incorporates provisions made (such 
as superannuation, but excluding depreciation 
and bad debts) as well as holdings of equity. Net 
financial worth includes all classes of financial 
assets and liabilities, only some of which are 
included in net debt.

Net operating balance or net result from 
transactions is a key fiscal aggregate and is 
revenue from transactions minus expenses from 
transactions. It is a summary measure of the 
ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes 
gains and losses resulting from changes in price 
levels and other changes in the volume of assets. 
It is the component of the change in net worth 
that is due to transactions and can be attributed 
directly to government policies.

Net result is a measure of financial performance 
of the operations for the period. It is the net 
result of items of revenue, gains and expenses 
(including losses) recognised for the period, 
excluding those classified as ‘other non-owner 
movements in equity’.

Net worth is calculated as assets less liabilities, 
which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not 
financial assets. It includes land, buildings, plant 
and equipment, cultural and heritage assets and 
intangibles.

Operating result is a measure of financial 
performance of the operations for the period. It 
is the net result of items of revenue, gains and 
expenses (including losses) recognised for the 
period, excluding those that are classified as 
‘other non-owner movements in equity’. Refer 
also ‘net result’.

Other economic flows included in net result 
are changes in the volume or value of an asset 
or liability that do not result from transactions. 
In simple terms, other economic flows are 
changes arising from market remeasurements. 
They include gains and losses from disposals, 
revaluations and impairments of non-current 
physical and intangible assets; fair value changes 
of financial instruments and agricultural assets; 
and depletion of natural assets (non-produced) 
from their use or removal.

Other economic flows and other comprehensive 
income comprises items (including reclassification 
adjustments) that are not recognised in net result as 
required or permitted by other Australian Accounting 
Standards. They include changes in physical 
asset revaluation surplus and gains and losses on 
remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets.

Payables includes short and long-term trade debt 
and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest 
payable.

Produced assets include buildings, plant and 
equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and 
certain intangible assets. Intangible produced 
assets may include computer software and 
research and development costs (not including 
the start-up costs associated with capital 
projects).

Receivables include amounts owing from 
government through appropriation receivable, 
short and long-term trade credit and accounts 
receivable, accrued investment income, grants, 
taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services refers to income 
from the direct provision of goods and services 
and includes fees and charges for services 
rendered, sales of goods and services, fees from 
regulatory services and work done as an agent 
for private enterprises. It also includes rental 
income under operating leases and on produced 
assets, such as buildings and entertainment, 
but excludes rent income from the use of non-
produced assets, such as land. User charges 
includes sale of goods and services income.

Supplies and services generally represent cost 
of goods sold and the day to day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the 
normal operations of the Commission.

Transactions are those economic flows that 
are considered to arise as a result of policy 
decisions, usually an interaction between two 
entities by mutual agreement. They also include 
flows into an entity such as depreciation, where 
the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner 
of the depreciating asset and as the consumer 
of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is 
regarded as mutually agreed interactions between 
the government and taxpayers. Transactions can 
be in kind (for example, assets provided/given free 
of charge or for nominal consideration) or where 
the final consideration is cash. In simple terms, 
transactions arise from the policy decisions of 
the government.

Style conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been 
rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals 
and sums of components reflect rounding. 
Percentage variations in all tables are based on 
the underlying unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

− zero, or rounded to zero

(xxx) negative numbers

200x year period

200x 0x year period

The financial statements and notes are presented 
based on the illustration for a government 
department in the 2017–18 Model Report for 
Victorian Government Departments.
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9. Budgetary reporting

9.2 BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Variance  
note

Original 
budget 

2018  
$'000

Actual 
2018  

$'000
Variance  

$'000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 

Receivables

-

-

- 

332

-

332

Total financial assets - 332 332

Non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment 

Intangible Assets

-

-

252

184

252

184

Total non-financial assets - 436 436

Total assets - 768 768

Liabilities 

Payables 

Provisions

-

-

442

112

442

112

Total liabilities - 554 554

Net assets - 213 213

Equity

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) - 213 213

Net worth - 213 213

Note: Balance sheet budgets were not prepared due to JCV commencing operations 1 July 2017.

Introduction
This section includes budget and variance analysis information.

Structure
9.1  Comprehensive operating statement

9.2 Balance sheet

9.3 Cash flow statement

9.4 Statement of changes in equity

9.1 COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Variance 
note

Original 
budget 

2018 
$'000

Actual 
2018 

$'000
Variance 

$'000

Continuing operations 

Income from transactions

Grant income 1 1,424 1,422 (2)

Total income from transactions 1,424 1,422 (2)

Expenses from transactions 

Employee expenses 

Supplies and services

Depreciation and amortisation

2

2

539

885

-

825

375

35

286

(510)

35

Total expenses from transactions 1,424 1,236 (188)

Net result from transactions (net operating 
balance)

- 186 186

Other economic flows included in net result

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows - 27 27

Total other economic flows included in net 
result

- 27 27

Net result - 213 213

Comprehensive result - 213 213

Notes:

1.  Revenue is consolidated as a grant received from Court Services Victoria (CSV), the appropriated entity.

2.  Employee expenses and supplies and services: The budget and actuals for this note are combined as one due to JCV commencing 
operations from 1 July 2017. The initial budget allocation was developed with limited information at the time of preparation.
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9.3 CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget  

2018  
$'000

Actual  
2018  

$'000
Variance 

$'000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts

Receipts from government

Total receipts

1 1,424

1,424

1,090

1,090

(334)

(334)

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees 2 (1,424) (939) 485

Total payments (1,424) (939) 485

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities - 151 151

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of non-financial assets 3 - (471) (471)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities - (471) (471)

Cash flows from financing activities

Advance from Court Services Victoria 4 - 320 320

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities - 320 320

Net increase (decrease) in cash held - - -

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year

-

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year

-

Notes:

1.  Revenue is consolidated as a grant received from CSV, the appropriated entity.

2.  Payments to suppliers and employees: the budget setting assumed the full cash consumption of receipts in the first year 
of operations.

3.  Purchases of non-financial assets: the balance is due to both the recognition of assets in the first year of operations.

4.  Advance from CSV to meet service requirements in the first year of operations.

9.4 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Original budget

Accumulated surplus/ 
(deficit)  

$'000
Contributions by owner 

$'000
Total 

$'000

Opening balance

Net result for the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance at 30 June 2018 - - -

Actuals

Accumulated surplus/ 
(deficit) 

$'000
Contributions by owner 

$'000
Total 

$'000

Balance as at 1 July 2017 - - -

Net result for the year 213 - 213

Balance at 30 June 2018 213 - 213

Variance to budget

Accumulated surplus/ 
(deficit) 

$'000
Contributions by owner 

$'000
Total 

$'000

Balance as at 1 July 2017 - - -

Net result for the year 213 - 213

213 - 213
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